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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The state house is a parallelogram %Qg\gz 238 feet. 1Its height
from the ground to the top of the tower is 206 feet 7 inches. The
main idea of the elevatlon of plan of the bulldlng is a Greek Ionic
terraced pavements. The end porticoes, north and south, each have
eight magnificent Ionic columns. The east and west porticoes each
have six columns. These twenty-eight columns are 4 feet in diameter
and 33 feet high, and rest on and are capped by entablatures.

The building is crowned by a slim tower over the roof, patterned aftey
the Choragic Monument to Lysicrates erected in Athens in 335 B.C.
to house a tripod won by a Creek stage choir led by Lysicrates. The
tower, 42 feet high, supports a lantern, or cupola, 37 feet high.
The eight engaged Corinthian columns are surmounted by capitals
composed of small lotus leaves and a small row of acanthus leaves
above. Between each of the acanthus leaves ds a Flower resembling the
Egyptian lotus. The top of the tower is crowned with iron foliated
finial ornament composed of four tiers of leaves surmounted by a
flagpole. There are four ornamental scrolls between the roof and
lower tier of leaves. The cornice is surrounded by an ornamental
edge of cast iron Vitruvian scroll.

The plan of the interior is simple and efficient, and like all
Strickland interiors, gives beautifully proportioned space and well-
built halls. The first and second floors of tEe'bulldlng are
intersected by a central hall and a longitudinal hall which connect

with stairways, porticoes, offices, and the principal chambers.

The plan includes a crypt (now a ground floor) and two stories. The
first floor contain the offices of the governor and other state
officials. On the second floor are the Hall of Representatives, and
the smaller Senate Chamber. The library,: located across from the
Senate, is the highlight of the interior. The interior is Greek
only in the sense that CGreek detail was used freely.

The principal stairway from the first to the second floor is a
masterwork of design and construction. The first flight, supported
from the floor and centered in the west end, leads to a landing,
then returns on both sides to the second floor. The second flights
are formed of cut stone cantilevered from the walls of the central
hall. The marble balustrade is simple and similar to those in the
National Capitol in Washington.

The wood doors and windows were originallymade of white oak; the roof
sheathing was two inch poplar. The iron trusses spanning as much
as 70 feet in single spans are one of the marvels of the capitol.
The original copper roof, of the finest 20-ounce copper available,
failed very soon after completion because of inadequate pr0v151on
for expansion. In 1885 it was replaced with tin and has since been
redone in copper again.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Tennessee State Capitol is located on the most commanding
site in Nashville and stands as a monument to William Strickland,
the most noted architect of the time. This Greek Revival gem

is a produce and prime example of the architecture of the
Romantic era (1820-1860) in America. In addition the state
house is significant for having been the seat of government in
Tennessee for more than a century.

An excerpt from Strickland's report to the state legislature
on May 20, 1845, gives the following description of the outstand-
ing features of the building:

The architecture of the building consists of a Doric basement,
four Ionic porticos, two of eight and two six columns four-feet
in diameter, surmounted by a Corinthian tower in'the center of
the roof, the whole height of which is to be 170 feet from the
summit of the site. The porticos are after the order of the
Erectheum, and the tower from the choragic monument of bLysicrates
in Athens. ‘ o

Two of the remarkable architectural features of the Capitol are
the "hanging" stairway of stone which leads from the second

floor to the tower, and the huge blocks of which the entire struc-
ture is built. Both represent unusual feats in engineering.

The stone-fossilated limestone, in many of the blocks of which
shells and other remains of a by-gone geological era are plainly
discernible - was quarried nearby and hoisted in huge blocks
weighing from six to ten tons each, into the fortresglike walls
of the building.

The cornerstone of the Capitol was laid July W, 1845, and the
building was completed in 1854, nine years after it was begun.
Much of the skilled labor, for stone cutting and other equally
important details, was performed by convict labor from the State
penitentiary. Marble for the interior and glass came from East
Tennessee, and the wrought iron in the fences, the grill work in
the interior, and the French bronze chandeliers were manufactured
according to special orders of the building commissioners and

the architect. They were done by a Philadelphia firm and work-

ment were imported from Munich and Berlin to cast some of the
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During the war the Capitol was very much abused and finally in 1902
some major repairs were made to the heating and ventilation system,
and some repair was made to the stonework which was weathering badly.
No significant repair or renovation was done from 1902 until 1956
although the deterioration of the exterior stone was a concern of
every governor and general assembly,

Beginning in January, 1956, major exterior repairs and restoration
was begun. A contract calling for,among other things, the replace-
ment of 90,000 cubic feet of limestone was let. This included all
28 Ionic columns and the pediments and parapets above them, the
entire entablature, all projecting cornices and the upper and lower
terraces, the engaged columns and entablature on the tower, a new
copper roof, new bronze landrails around the upper terrace and in
the porticoes, new exterior doors and windows; and floodlights to
light the building.

Oolitic limestone from Indiana was used to replace the original
limestone. Exact templates were made of all pieces replaced to
insure exact reproduction. The new windows were made of white

pine, pressure-treated with a wood preservative to increase longevity.
White pine precludes the problem of warping that existed from the
beginning with the original white oak windows.

While the exterior restoration is authentic in every detail, the
problems of providing for a new heating and air-conditioning system
and other facilities that were not adequate originally,made it
impossible to do a true interior restoration. However, many of the

original paint colors were restored and much of the interior is
more authentic than the 1902 work.

The offices on the first floor that were remodeled were done in the
Georgian style. The new stone floors in the hall are marble replacing
badly broken limestone. New light fixtures were placed in the Senate
and House chambers. New office space was provided in the basement
and a new tunnel provided entrance from street level, 1In addition,
elevators were installed. The restoration was completed in 1960 with
the exterior of the Capitol looking almost exactly as Strickland

left it.
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8. Significance (cont.)
most important figures.

William Strickland died in 1854, a short time before the Capitol
was completed, and, in compliance with his request, his body was
placed in the vault in the north east wall of the building which

he had prepared. After Willjiam Strickland's death his son, Francis
Strickland, who had been associated with him in his work, completed
the building. The first legislature occupied rooms in the building
in 1853, although it was not actually completed until 1859 when

the last stone on the terrace was laid.

During the Civil War, when Andrew Johnson was military governor,
the Capitol was used as-a federal fortess and was known as "Tort
Johnson." After the war the (Capitol resumed use as the seat of
Tennessee legislature. Since that time many prominent people have
spoken in the Capitol, e.g., President Rutherford B. Hayes in 1877
and President Grover Cleveland in 1887. Some other famous men
have lain in state or had their funeral conducted in the Tennessee
State Capitol, e.g., President Andrew Johnson, U. S. Senator Isham
G. Harris, and U. S. Senator Robert Love Taylor.




